FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 8/20/2018 9:52 AM

Supreme Court No. 96203-1

No. 74554-9-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

RAMONA C. BRANDES, as Personal Representative of the Estate of BARBARA J. BRANDES,

Plaintiff-Petitioner,

v.

BRAND INSULATIONS, INC., et al.,

Defendant-Respondents.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Matthew P. Bergman Justin Olson BERGMAN DRAPER OSLUND 821 Second Avenue, Suite 2100 Seattle, WA 98104 (T) 206-957-9510

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Petitioner

I.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
II.	COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION
III.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
	1. Whether this petition involves issues of substantial importance that should be determined by this Court and therefore warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion misapplies the "prior litigation" exception that extinguishes statutory wrongful death actions under Washington law?
	2. Whether the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion conflicts with this Court's precedent and therefore warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because it misinterprets this Court's holding in <i>Deggs v. Asbestos Corp.</i> , 186 Wn.2d 716, 381 P.3d 32 (2016)?
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
1	A. Barbara Brandes' Personal Injury/Survivorship Case
]	B. The Brandes Children's Wrongful Death Case
V.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED
1	A. Barbara Brandes' Survivorship Claim is Legally and Analytically Distinct from the Wrongful Death Claims Asserted by Her Statutory Beneficiaries.
]	B. Barbara Brandes Did Not Attain Judgment During Her Lifetime 12
(C. This Court Should Grant Review to Correct the Court of Appeals' Improper Expansion of Dicta in <i>Deggs</i>
VI.	CONCLUSION21

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Atchison v. Great W. Malting Co., 161 Wn.2d 372, 166 P.3d 662 (2007)9
Bowers v. Fibreboard Corp., 66 Wn. App. 454, 832 P.2d 523 (1992)8
Brodie v. Washington Water Power Co., 92 Wash. 574, 159 P. 791 (1916)16, 20
Cavazos v. Franklin, 73 Wn. App. 116, 867 P.2d 674 (1994)8
Columbia Riverkeeper v. Port of Vancouver USA, 188 Wn.2d 421, 395 P.3d 1031 (2017)9
Criscuola v. Andrews, 82 Wn.2d 68, 507 P.2d 149 (1973)12
Deggs v. Asbestos Corp., 186 Wn.2d 716, 381 P.3d 32 (2016)
Deggs v. Asbestos Corp., 188 Wn. App. 495, 354 P.3d 1 (2015)
D'Amico v. Conguista, 24 Wn.2d 674, 167 P.2d 157 (1946)20
Fisher BroadSeattle TV LLC v. City of Seattle, 180 Wn.2d 515, 326 P.3d 688 (2014)9
<i>Grant v. Fisher Flouring Mills Co.</i> , 181 Wash. 576, 44 P.2d 193 (1935)
Johnson v. Ottomeier, 45 Wn.2d 419, 275 P.2d 723 (1951)
Maciejczak v. Bartell, 187 Wash. 113, 60 P.2d 31 (1936)9

N. Coast Air Servs., Ltd. v. Grumman Corp., 111 Wn.2d 315, 759 P.2d 405 (1988)14, 15
Peterson v. Hagan, 56 Wn.2d 48, 351 P.2d 127 (1960)20
State ex rel. Lemon v. Langlie, 45 Wn.2d 82, 273 P.2d 464 (1954)20
State ex rel. Todd v. Yelle, 7 Wn.2d 443, 110 P.2d 162 (1941)20
State, Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C., 146 Wn.2d 1, 43 P.3d 4 (2002)9
Tait v. Wahl, 97 Wn. App. 765, 987 P.2d 127 (1999)7
Woodall v. Avalon Care CtrFed. Way, LLC, 155 Wn. App. 919, 231 P.3d 1252 (2010)10, 11
<u>Statutes</u>
RCW 4.20.010
RCW 4.20.046(1)10
RCW 4.20.0608
Other Authorities
WPI 31.01.01
<u>Appendix</u>
Unpublished Opinion

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Plaintiff-Petitioner Ramona C. Brandes ("Plaintiff"), daughter of Barbara Brandes and Personal Representative of her Estate, is the Petitioner.

II. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

The Court of Appeals issued its unpublished opinion on May 29, 2018. *See* App. 1-13.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether this petition involves issues of substantial importance that should be determined by this Court and therefore warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion misapplies the "prior litigation" exception that extinguishes statutory wrongful death actions under Washington law?
- 2. Whether the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion conflicts with this Court's precedent and therefore warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because it misinterprets this Court's holding in *Deggs v*. *Asbestos Corp.*, 186 Wn.2d 716, 381 P.3d 32 (2016)?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Barbara Brandes' Personal Injury/Survivorship Case.

Barbara Brandes was diagnosed with mesothelioma on June 16, 2014, at the age of 79. CP 109-10. In August 2014, she filed a Complaint

for Personal Injuries against several defendants including Brand Insulations, Inc. CP 112-15. Ms. Brandes alleged that Brand negligently sold and installed asbestos thermal insulation products at the Atlantic Richfield Cherry Point refinery where her husband worked, causing her to sustain "take home" exposure to Brand's products. CP 40. Ms. Brandes settled with all defendants except Brand by the second day of trial. *See* CP 81. In consideration for a monetary payment, Ms. Brandes explicitly released each settling defendant from all claims arising out of her present personal injury claim *and* any future wrongful death claims asserted by her statutory beneficiaries. CP 725.

Barbara Brandes succumbed to her mesothelioma on April 19, 2015, the night before closing arguments. CP 95-96, 119. Thereafter, the trial court granted Plaintiff's motion to substitute Ms. Brandes' daughter as Personal Representative of her mother's estate and authorized the continuation of the trial as a survivorship action. CP 95-97, 122-28. As the following colloquy between Plaintiff's counsel and Brand's counsel make clear, all parties understood that the case was proceeding solely as a survivorship action and that any potential wrongful death claims would not be submitted to the jury:

PLAINTIFF'S COUNSEL: I believe the matter can go forward and that the only matter addressed would be the caption as well as a minor change in damages. And it

would just be eliminating it from your instructions, the future damages.

THE COURT: Okay. But without doing anything more in terms of evidence to --

PLAINTIFF'S COUNSEL: Correct, because -- There are no claims. There are no wrongful death ... claims being ... pursued now. ...

THE COURT: Okay. Good. Mr. Shaw, your thoughts?

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Well, we're here. We've got a witness. And I ... would agree with counsel that there's you know, I don't think there's any reason not to proceed.

CP 123-26.

The trial court informed the jurors of Ms. Brandes' death and instructed them that this change in no way affected the limited issues in the case. CP 127-28. The jury instructions were likewise clear that the only damages at issue were those sustained by Ms. Brandes prior to her death, making no mention of any damages sustained by her children.¹ Following a day of deliberation, the jury reached a verdict in favor of the

If you find for the plaintiff, in making a damage award, you should consider the following elements of non-economic damages:

CP 131.

¹ On the issue of damages, the jury was instructed as follows:

⁽¹⁾ The nature and extent of the injuries;

⁽²⁾ The disability, inconvenience and loss of enjoyment of life experienced by Barbara Brandes; and

⁽³⁾ The pain and suffering, both mental and physical, experienced by Barbara Brandes.

Plaintiff, awarding Ms. Brandes' estate \$3,500,000 in non-economic damages for the personal injuries arising out of her mesothelioma diagnosis. CP 81.

B. The Brandes Children's Wrongful Death Case.

On July 22, 2015, the Personal Representative of Barbara Brandes' estate filed a Complaint for Wrongful Death against Brand as well as CBS Corporation, Parsons Government Services Inc., and Saberhagen Holdings who had not been named in Ms. Brandes' personal injury action. CP 3. Ms. Brandes' eight surviving children sought economic damages for lost financial support and non-economic damages for the loss of their parental relationship and consortium with their mother. CP 3-4.

On November 3, 2015, Brand filed a Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim Upon Which Relief can be Granted, in which defendants Parsons and Saberhagen joined. CP 17-58. Brand argued that under this Court's recent holding in *Deggs v. Asbestos Corp.*, 188 Wn. App. 495, 354 P.3d 1 (2015), *aff'd*, 381 P.3d 32 (2016), the wrongful death claims of Ms. Brandes' children against all defendants were extinguished by the judgment entered in her personal injury action against Brand. CP 17. At oral argument, Brand argued that there was "really only one salient fact," which was "that Ms. Brandes got a verdict in a trial in a personal injury action," and, under Washington case law, "it's very clear that that

recovery in a case in which the potential wrongful death beneficiaries did not file personal injury actions—or their own personal injury actions in that principal action—bars a subsequent wrongful death action." VRP 3. On January 5, 2016, the trial court signed a Corrected Order granting the motion to dismiss as to all defendants and further specifying that, "The basic operative facts are undisputed and the core issue is one of law." CP 234-36.

The Brandes Estate timely filed a Notice of Appeal with Division One of the Court of Appeals on January 8, 2016. CP 232-33. After a stipulated stay pending a decision from this Court in the *Deggs* case, the Court of Appeals issued its unpublished opinion on May 29, 2018. Relying heavily on this Court's opinion in *Deggs*, the Court of Appeals issued the following holding with regard to defendant Brand:

Because the estate recovered from prior litigation against Brand, we are bound by <u>Deggs</u> and affirm the trial court's dismissal of the wrongful death action against Brand. However, because they were not parties to the estate's prior litigation, we reverse the trial court's dismissal of the wrongful death action against Parsons and CBS and remand for further proceedings.

App. at 2.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The Court of Appeals properly held that Ms. Brandes had a subsisting cause of action at the time of her death as to the unnamed

defendants CBS and Parsons. App. at 11, 13. As to defendant Brand, the crux of the appellate court's analysis is found within its conclusion that "because Barbara engaged in post injury prior litigation against Brand, our Supreme Court's equitable exception applies and forecloses the estate's wrongful death action against Brand." App. at 9. In reaching this portion of its holding, the Court of Appeals committed several fundamental legal errors warranting this Court's review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(4).

First, the appellate court's ruling misconstrues Washington's wrongful death jurisprudence. Although wrongful death claims are provided for by statute, this Court has developed several limitations where the decedent engaged in conduct that renders a later wrongful death claim inequitable including the lapse of a statute of limitations and the entry into a settlement with the defendant. However, the appellate court determined that the existence of pending personal injury litigation was sufficient to foreclose future wrongful death claims, even when the decedent expires prior to entry of a judgment and the jury's verdict expressly excluded wrongful death damages. Such a sweeping limitation on a statutory cause of action raises an issue of substantial public interest that should be reviewed by this Court.

Second, the Court of Appeals erred in construing this Court's holding in *Deggs v. Asbestos Corporation Limited* to foreclose all wrongful death actions against any defendants named in a prior lawsuit. In *Deggs*, the Court was called upon to determine whether "the lapsing of the statute of limitations on the underlying personal injury claim bars the personal representative from bringing a wrongful death claim." 186 Wn.2d at 727. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals relied on dicta to conclude that filing a lawsuit that later results in judgment after the decedent has passed is an equitable limitation on the availability of wrongful death claims. App. at 10-11. In reaching this conclusion, the decision by the Court of Appeals conflicts with the decision of this Court in *Deggs*, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

A. Barbara Brandes' Survivorship Claim is Legally and Analytically Distinct from the Wrongful Death Claims Asserted by Her Statutory Beneficiaries.

"[C]auses of action for wrongful death are strictly a matter of legislative grace and are not recognized in the common law." *Tait v. Wahl*, 97 Wn. App. 765, 771, 987 P.2d 127 (1999). In 1854, the Legislative Assembly of the Territory of Washington enacted the special survival statute, now codified at RCW 4.20.060, which allows the executor or administrator of a decedent's estate "to recover for the decedent's damages, including any pain and suffering between the time of

the injury and the time of death." *Bowers v. Fibreboard Corp.*, 66 Wn. App. 454, 460, 832 P.2d 523 (1992). Washington's general survival statute—also known as the death by personal injury statute—"does not create a separate claim for the decedent's survivors" but "merely preserves the causes of action a person could have maintained had he or she not died." *Cavazos v. Franklin*, 73 Wn. App. 116, 119, 867 P.2d 674 (1994).

In 1875, the territorial legislature enacted the Washington wrongful death statute in substantially the form it has today:

When the death of a person is caused by the wrongful act, neglect, or default of another his or her personal representative may maintain an action for damages against the person causing the death; and although the death shall have been caused under such circumstances as amount, in law, to a felony.

RCW 4.20.010. This Court has held that a wrongful death action "is not truly a derivative action: "[T]he action for wrongful death is derivative only in the sense that it derives from the wrongful act causing the death, rather than from the person of the deceased." *Deggs*, 186 Wn.2d at 721 (quoting *Johnson v. Ottomeier*, 45 Wn.2d 419, 423, 275 P.2d 723 (1951)); *see also Atchison v. Great W. Malting Co.*, 161 Wn.2d 372, 378-79, 166 P.3d 662 (2007) ("the rule is well-settled: wrongful death actions accrue at the time of death"). Consequently, wrongful death claims never belong to the decedent and under no circumstances does the decedent's estate

benefit from the action. *Maciejczak v. Bartell*, 187 Wash. 113, 125, 60 P.2d 31 (1936).

Because wrongful death claims are created entirely by statute, they encapsulate the legislature's intent that family members be afforded a remedy for the wrongful deaths of their loved ones. "The court's fundamental objective is to ascertain and carry out the legislature's intent, and if the statute's meaning is plain on its face, then the court must give effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent." State, Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C., 146 Wn.2d 1, 9-10, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). Thus, any equitable limitations on the Legislature's clear intent must be narrowly construed. See Columbia Riverkeeper v. Port of Vancouver USA, 188 Wn.2d 421, 448, 395 P.3d 1031 (2017) (Open Public Meetings Act exceptions must be narrowly construed); Fisher Broad.-Seattle TV LLC v. City of Seattle, 180 Wn.2d 515, 521, 326 P.3d 688 (2014) (Public Records Act exemptions must be narrowly construed). In this case, the Court of Appeals frustrated the intent of the Legislature by effectively repealing the Wrongful Death Statute in any situation where the decedent obtains judgment in a personal injury action irrespective of whether the judgment encompassed wrongful death claims.

There is no indication that our Legislature intended the remedies for survivorship actions and wrongful death actions to be mutually exclusive. On the contrary, the Court of Appeals has previously recognized the profound distinctions between survivorship and wrongful death rights of action:

Survival actions and wrongful death actions, though often brought together, are conceptually distinct. The wrongful death statute, RCW 4.20.010, provides that when the death of a person is caused by the wrongful act of another, his personal representative may maintain an action for damages against the person causing the death. The wrongful death statutes create new causes of action for the benefit of specific surviving relatives to compensate for losses caused to them by the decedent's death...

In contrast, Washington's general survival statute, RCW 4.20.046(1), does not create a separate claim for the decedent's survivors, but merely preserves the causes of action a person could have maintained had he or she not died. Stated differently, the survival statute allows the decedent's existing causes of action to survive and continue as an asset of his estate.

Woodall v. Avalon Care Ctr.-Fed. Way, LLC, 155 Wn. App. 919, 930-31, 231 P.3d 1252 (2010) (quotations and citations omitted).

In *Woodall*, the resident of a nursing care facility signed an agreement requiring arbitration of all disputes "arising from personal injury or medical care." *Id.* at 922. The resident subsequently died and, when his children brought wrongful death and survivorship claims, the facility moved to compel arbitration. *Id.* Division One of the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision to compel arbitration of the survivorship claims, holding that such claims originated as the decedent's

"existing causes of action, which survived his death and continued as an asset of his estate." *Id.* at 931 (quotations omitted). However, the court held that the arbitration agreement was not binding on the wrongful death beneficiaries, none of whom had signed the arbitration agreement. *Id.* at 926, 936. In rejecting the defendant's argument that the wrongful death claims were merely "derivative" of the survivorship claims, the court observed that the wrongful death right of action is uniquely available to a decedent's statutory beneficiaries and, as such, could not be restricted by the decedent who holds "no right to those claims." *Id.* at 929-30.

Even the measure of damages is distinct between survivorship and wrongful death actions. The Washington Pattern Jury Instructions ("WPI") states that damages for survivorship actions should include health care and funeral expenses, net accumulations lost to the estate, and noneconomic damages experienced by the decedent prior to his or her death. WPI 31.01.01. In contrast, damages for wrongful death claims are measured by the value of goods, money, and services the beneficiary would have received from the decedent, as well as the noneconomic losses "in the way of love, care, companionship, and guidance" from the decedent. WPI 31.03.01. The Court has expressly held that any problems of double compensation where remedies are sought under both survival and wrongful death actions are avoided "if recovery under the survival"

action is limited to the prospective net accumulations of the deceased." *Criscuola v. Andrews*, 82 Wn.2d 68, 70, 507 P.2d 149 (1973).

These conceptual and legal distinctions between survival and wrongful death actions are particularly salient in the instant case where Ms. Brandes litigated a personal injury claim during her lifetime, which was converted to a survivorship claim upon her death, but prior to entry of judgment. CP 95-97, 122-28. The record demonstrates that the parties explicitly discussed—and the trial court endorsed—Plaintiff's decision to proceed to verdict exclusively on a survivorship claim in order to preserve the work expended by the attorneys, the jury, and the judge over the two-week-long personal injury trial. CP 123-26. All parties were aware that wrongful death claims were being reserved for a future action. *See id.* Moreover, the judgment entered by the trial court explicitly references the jury's verdict and award of damages for injuries personal to Barbara Brandes, and unequivocally related *only* to her survivorship claim. CP 82.

B. Barbara Brandes Did Not Attain Judgment During Her Lifetime.

Even if the Court of Appeals correctly construed *Deggs* to bar statutory beneficiaries from prosecuting wrongful death claims in cases where the decedent attained judgment on her personal injury claim during her lifetime, because judgment was entered after Ms. Brandes' death, the

wrongful death action should have been allowed to proceed. "[W]hile the wrongful death action exists for the benefit of the deceased's family, it is not completely separate from actions the deceased could have brought during life." *Deggs*, 186 Wn.2d at 722. Washington law has long recognized several distinct circumstances can extinguish a future wrongful death claim notwithstanding the statutory language. In *Deggs v. Asbestos Corporation Limited*, this Court considered one such exception, whether "the lapsing of the statute of limitations on the underlying personal injury claim bars the personal representative from bringing a wrongful death claim." *Id.* at 727. Writing for the majority of the Court, Justice Gonzalez surveyed Washington's wrongful death jurisprudence dating back to the English Lord Campbell's Act of 1846. *Id.* at 722-23. In so doing, the Court identified "two categories of wrongful death suits that had been dismissed based on the status or conduct of the deceased." *Id.* at 725-26.

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