FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/3/2018 10:33 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 96203-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RAMONA C. BRANDES, as Personal Representative of the Estate of BARBARA J. BRANDES,

Plaintiff-Petitioner,

v.

BRAND INSULATIONS, INC.; CBS CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation, f/k/a VIACOM, INC., successor by merger to CBS CORPORATION, a Pennsylvania Corporation, f/k/a WESTINGHOUSE ELECTRIC CORPORATION; and PARSONS GOVERNMENT SERVICES, INC.,

Defendants-Respondents,

and

SABERHAGEN HOLDINGS, INC., et al.,

Defendants.

ANSWER OF RESPONDENT PARSONS GOVERNMENT SERVICES, INC.

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Refusing to Apply the "Prior Litigation" Limitation to Bar the Brandes Children's Wrongful-Death Claims Against Parsons Conflicts with Deggs and with the Majority Rule.

As Brand Insulations has cogently recounted in its opposition,⁴ Washington law has applied certain equitable limitations upon wrongful-death claims for over a century now. As early as 1916, this Court took a "substantial step toward limiting our wrongful death statute," establishing that equitable limitations may bar a wrongful-death claim. *See Deggs*, 186 Wn.2d at 716 (citing *Brodie v. Wash. Water Power Co.*, 92 Wash. 574, 576-77 (1916), 726 n.6. One such limitation applies where the decedent, following her fatal injury, pursued a course of conduct making it inequitable to recognize a wrongful-death claim. *Id.* at 726. One such course of conduct is the decedent's pursuit of *prior litigation*. *Id*.

This limitation is embodied in the Restatement (Second) of Judgments and reflects the majority rule: that a judgment for the decedent in a personal-injury action bars a later action for wrongful death resulting from the same injury. *See* RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF JUDGMENTS § 46 REPORTER'S NOTE (1982); S. SPEISER & J. ROOKS, JR., RECOVERY FOR

⁴ Though Parsons urges this Court to accept review, Parsons largely adopts the arguments and reasoning in Brand Insulations' opposition to review. Brand Insulations opposes review because the Court of Appeals' decision happened to reach the correct result as to Brand Insulations, i.e., affirmance of the trial court's dismissal of the Brandes children's wrongful-death claims against it, though on faulty reasoning. As set forth below and in Brand Insulations' opposition, the Brandes children's wrongful-death claims are barred against everyone (not just Brand Insulations).

WRONGFUL DEATH § 15:22 (4th ed., updated electronically July 2018); D. DOBBS, P. HAYDEN & E. BUBLICK, THE LAW OF TORTS § 380 (2d ed., updated electronically June 2018).⁵

Consistent with the majority rule, this Court in *Deggs* reaffirmed that equitable limitations on the accrual of a wrongful-death action include a judgment recovered in the deceased's favor in a prior personal-injury/survival action. 186 Wn.2d at 726 n.6. *Deggs* recognized that there was "something inequitable in allowing the deceased's personal representative to maintain a suit based on injuries that the deceased had already been compensated for." *Id.*

However, citing the intermediate appellate decision in *Deggs*, the Court of Appeals incorrectly reasoned that the prior-litigation limitation was only "intended to protect a specific defendant that had already been sued," *i.e.*, *Brand Insulations*, but not Parsons or CBS. *Slip Op.* at 12 (*citing Deggs v. Asbestos Corp.*, 188 Wn. App. 495, 510, 354 P.3d 1 (2015)). But nothing in this Court's *Deggs* decision, or in the intermediate *Deggs* decision, or in the Restatement, or in prior Washington law, has ever suggested that the prior-litigation limitation applies only to the *specific defendants* who were sued in the prior personal-injury action. To the

⁵ For examples of recent decisions adopting this equitable limitation in cases where the decedent prevailed in the prior action, *see Union Bank of Cal., N.A. v. Copeland Lumber Yards, Inc.*, 160 P.3d 1032, 1037 (Or. Ct. App. 2007) (adhering to "the traditional and dominant view") (holding wrongful-death action barred by prior judgment in decedent's favor for injuries caused by asbestos exposure); *Varelis v. Nw. Memorial Hosp.*, 167 Ill.2d 449, 212 Ill. Dec. 652, 657 N.E.2d 997, 1002 (1995) (adhering to the "great weight" of authority) (holding wrongful-death action barred by prior judgment in decedent's favor); and *Variety Children's Hosp. v. Perkins*, 445 So.2d 1010, 1012 (Fla. 1983) (adhering to "the prevalent view") (same).

contrary, such a restriction would make little sense: As *Deggs* made clear, this limitation prevents a wrongful-death claim's *accrual—i.e.*, its coming into existence in the first place. *Deggs*, 186 Wn.2d at 726 n.6; BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 25 (10th ed. 2014) (defining "accrue"). So if the wrongful-death claim does not accrue for one defendant, *i.e.*, Brand Insulations, then that claim necessarily cannot accrue for anyone else, *i.e.*, Parsons or CBS. Either a wrongful-death claim exists or it doesn't exist—for *all* potential defendants. And *Deggs* makes clear that once the plaintiff pursues prior personal-injury/survival litigation to judgment—no matter the identity of the particular defendants sued or the amount recovered—the limitation bars the wrongful-death claim for *all* potential defendants.

In sum, this Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(4), reaffirm that Washington adheres to the majority rule under the prior-litigation exception, hold that it bars wrongful-death actions against all potential defendants, and reinstate the trial court's dismissal of the wrongful-death claims asserted against Parsons.

B. Allowing Statutory Beneficiaries to Bring a Wrongful-death Action against New Defendants Who Could Have Been, but Were Not Sued in the Prior Personal-Injury Action, Risks Inconsistent Results and Double Recovery.

The Court of Appeals concluded that allowing the wrongful-death action to proceed against Parsons would not risk inconsistent results because Parsons is not in privity with Brand Insulations and therefore the Brandes children must still prove Parsons' negligence separately. *Slip Op.* at 12 (the children "will have to prove [Parsons' and CBS's] negligence

separately, thus there is no prior result with which to be inconsistent"). But while Parsons agrees that there is no privity with Brand Insulations, it is precisely this separate proof that risks, rather than prevents, inconsistent results if a wrongful-death case against Parsons is permitted.

The issue of Brand Insulations' negligence in installing asbestos insulation during the construction of the ARCO Cherry Point Refinery—an issue that was litigated to verdict in Brandes I—would also be an issue in any Brandes II wrongful-death case against Parsons. Parsons was the general contractor for the overall construction of the Refinery, and Brand Insulations was one of its subcontractors. Parsons anticipates that the Brandes children's negligence theory against Parsons may include a claim that Parsons, as the general contractor, failed to properly supervise and monitor its subcontractor's (i.e., Brand Insulations') negligent use of asbestos insulation. Thus, because the children would likely assert Brand Insulations' negligence as proof to support Parsons' negligence, Brand Insulations' actions, duties, and standards of conduct will almost certainly be relitigated in *Brandes II*. And the jury in *Brandes II* may conclude that Brand Insulations was not negligent, contrary to the jury's finding in Brandes I. Thus, contrary to the Court of Appeals' reasoning, there is a "prior result" from *Brandes I*—such as the finding of Brand Insulations' negligence—with which the result in a Brandes II wrongful-death trial could very well be inconsistent. Cf. Slip Op. at 12. Similarly, the jury in a Brandes II trial might conclude that Barbara's mesothelioma was not caused by asbestos from Brand Insulations' activities—or was not caused by

asbestos *at all*, based on evidence that was not available at the time of the $Brandes\ I$ trial⁶—again, contrary to the jury's findings in $Brandes\ I$.

A Brandes II suit could certainly present other opportunities for results that are inconsistent with those in Brandes I, including rulings on affirmative defenses to be presented by Parsons that were also presented by Brand Insulations in *Brandes I* (e.g., contractor's statute of repose under RCW 4.16.310), and issues of allocation of settlement proceeds as between the personal-injury claims and the wrongful-death claims. See Estate of Brandes, 2017 WL 325702, at *7-8. Following the Brandes I verdict, the trial court performed an allocation of the \$1.9 million in prior settlements to determine the appropriate setoff to the \$3.5 million verdict against Brand Insulations: an allocation that presumably took into account the perceived value of the just-concluded personal-injury/survival suit measured against the perceived value of a hypothetical future wrongful-death suit—i.e., a suit that had not yet been commenced against anyone, with no testimony or other evidence of any wrongful-death liability or damages, or of anyone's defenses to those claims. Not surprisingly given the lack of evidence presented and the parties' competing self-interests, radically different allocations were proposed: Ramona proposed a 50%/50% allocation; Brand Insulations proposed 100%/0%. The trial judge ultimately ordered an allocation of 80%/20%. Of course, because Parsons had no say or

⁶ See e.g., Richard L. Attanoos et al., *Malignant Mesothelioma and Its Non-Asbestos Causes*, 142 ARCH. PATHOL. LAB. MED. 753, 758 (June 2018) (very recent literature review concluding that approximately 60% to 90% of mesotheliomas in U.S. women are likely *unrelated to asbestos*).

representation in the *Brandes I* proceedings, it cannot be bound by the trial court's 80%/20% allocation. That, in turn, means that following a verdict awarding damages in any *Brandes II* wrongful-death suit, the trial court would have to revisit the claims, evidence, and merits of *Brandes I* to consider the comparative values of the two cases so as to reach its own appropriate allocation of the very same settlements that had previously been allocated by the *Brandes I* trial court. And the two allocations would very likely differ, given the different evidence and parties before the two trial courts and, indeed, given the plaintiff's own admission in *Brandes I* that a 50%/50% allocation, not 80%/20%, was appropriate.

Critically, these risks of duplicative trials, double recoveries, ⁷ and inconsistent results were easily avoidable and followed directly from strategic, *tactical* decisions made by Barbara, Ramona, and their *Brandes I* attorneys: (1) their choice *not* to join Parsons from the outset as a party in *Brandes I*, and (2) later, when Barbara died during the *Brandes I* trial, their choice to proceed to verdict on the personal-injury/survival claims, rather than to immediately amend the suit to include the wrongful-death claims, so that all of the claims, against all potential parties, could be fairly and

⁷ This Court in *Deggs* and in previous cases has also acknowledged the risk of double recovery if statutory beneficiaries were allowed to bring a wrongful-death action after the decedent had already pursued a personal-injury action and had recovered a judgment. *E.g.*, *Deggs*, 186 Wn.2d at 726 n.6; *Hinzman v. Palmanteer*, 81 Wn.2d 327, 331, 501 P.2d 1228 (1972) (a "serious question of duplication of damages" could arise when a party brings separate actions for personal injury and wrongful death), *disapproved of on other grounds in Wooldridge v. Woolett*, 96 Wn.2d 659, 638 P.2d 566 (1981); *see also* RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF JUDGMENTS § 47 REPORTER'S NOTE (citing cases) ("The problem of duplicate recovery is eliminated if the two claims [survival and wrongful death] are tried together, or required to be asserted in the same action").

consistently decided in the same action, by the same judge and jury, and based on the same evidence.

While most states permit a party to assert both a survival action and a wrongful-death action, most require the two actions to "be consolidated or joined for trial." SPEISER & ROOKS, RECOVERY FOR WRONGFUL DEATH § 1:13.8 Here, when the personal-injury action was converted to a survival action upon Barbara's death, Ramona deliberately decided *not* to combine it with a wrongful-death action, and instead to proceed to verdict only with the survival action, notwithstanding the resulting and plainly foreseeable risks of double recovery, inconsistent results, and prejudice to absent parties like Parsons. CP 124. The only equitable response to such inequitable conduct is dismissal of the wrongful-death action against all potential defendants, including Parsons.

This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(4), reaffirm that Washington adheres to the prior-litigation exception, hold that it bars wrongful death actions against *any* defendant, and reinstate the trial court's dismissal of the wrongful-death claims against Parsons.

⁸ See, e.g., Taylor v. Norfolk S. Ry. Co., 86 F. Supp. 3d 448, 453 (M.D.N.C. 2015) ("Survivorship and wrongful death actions, though technically separate, bear an important relationship to one another. If both are brought in one complaint, they should be 'stated separately,' and if they are brought in separate actions, they should be 'consolidated for trial." (quoting Bowen v. Constructors Equip. Rental Co., 196 S.E.2d 789, 807 (N.C. 1973)); Tommie v. LaChance, 412 So.2d 439, 440-41 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1982) (concluding that the trial court should have consolidated the wrongful-death and personal-injury actions to eliminate the risk of inconsistent verdicts); Doucette v. Bouchard, 265 A.2d 618, 619 (Conn. Super. Ct. 1970) ("If a personal representative seeks a recovery for both death and ante-mortem injuries, damages for both must be claimed in the same action.").

C. The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with the Joinder Requirement of Loss-of-Parental-Consortium Claims Announced by This Court in *Ueland*.

Washington has long recognized the public policy against claim splitting. *See Berschauer Phillips Constr. Co. v. Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co.*, 175 Wn. App. 222, 228, 308 P.3d 681 (2013). Filing two separate lawsuits based on the same event is precluded. *See Landry v. Luscher*, 95 Wn. App. 779, 780, 782, 976 P.2d 1274 (1999). The rule against claim splitting has no exception for personal-injury claims and wrongful-death/loss-of-parental-consortium claims resulting from the same personal injury.

In *Ueland v. Pengo Hydra-Pull Corp.*, 103 Wn.2d 131, 137, 691 P.2d 190 (1984), this Court recognized a claim for loss of parental consortium under Washington common law. Similar to the equitable limitations placed on wrongful-death actions, this Court required the parental-consortium claim to "be joined to the injured parent's claim whenever feasible." *Ueland*, 103 Wn.2d at 137. Separate parental-consortium claims are allowed only when joinder with the parent's personal-injury action was not feasible. *Id.* The reason for this limitation is the policy against claim splitting and the risk of inconsistent results and double recovery.

Ignoring the *Ueland* rule of "compulsory joinder where feasible," the Brandes children chose *not* to join their loss-of-consortium claims in their mother's personal-injury suit, *Brandes I*, though it is undisputed that doing so would have been feasible. Instead, they chose to bring those claims

later, in a separate suit, *Brandes II*, against new defendants. But rather than affirm the dismissal of those claims for failure to comply with *Ueland*, the Court of Appeals reasoned that the *Ueland* rule applies only to consortium claims resulting from a parent's *non-fatal* injuries, *i.e.*, from a parent's injury that doesn't "culminate in death." *Slip Op.* at 13. There is no meaningful distinction between the consortium lost as a result of a parent's fatal versus non-fatal injuries, and nothing in *Ueland* suggests otherwise.

The concern that prompted this Court in *Ueland* to require joinder of children's consortium claims in the parent's underlying personal-injury action had nothing to do with whether the injured parent was living, or living but terminally ill, or dead, or with any supposed differing natures or degrees of consortium lost. Rather, this Court was primarily concerned with the *prospects of multiple suits*: without a joinder requirement, "there could be as many claims as the injured parent has children." *Ueland*, 103 Wn.2d at 136-37. This Court's concern about multiple suits is obviously just as applicable where the parent has died as where the parent is living.

The Court of Appeals' decision purports to recognize different, and unworkable, joinder rules depending on whether the injured parent is living, critically ill, may eventually die, or is already dead. Indeed, this living-ordead distinction would lead to anomalous and nonsensical results. When the *Brandes I* suit was filed, Barbara—the injured parent—was *alive*; even under the Court of Appeals' narrow reading of *Ueland*, the children's loss-of-consortium claims were required to be joined with their mother's suit at that time, if "feasible." The fact that Barbara later died during her lawsuit

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